IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSE AZUCENA, Appellant,)	NO,	7407 Electronically Filed May 23 2018 01:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
vs.)		
THE STATE OF NEVADA,))		
Respondent.).)		

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Appellant

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

ADAM LAXALT Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The appellant, Jose Azucena, appeals from his judgment of conviction pursuant to NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015. Mr. Azucena's judgment of conviction was filed on August 24, 2017. (Appellant's Appendix Vol. III:596-600). This Court has jurisdiction over Mr. Azucena's appeal, which was timely filed on September 18, 2017. (III:602). See NRS 177.015(1)(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals; Azucena was convicted of 14 "A" felonies and 11 "B" felonies. See NRAP 17(b)(2).

¹ Hereinafter, Appellant's Appendix citations will start with volume number, followed by page.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Azucena's constitutional rights were violated when the judge verbally abused a juror during voir dire and refused to replace the venire.
- II. Azucena's constitutional rights were violated when the district court singled out the lone holdout juror and directed an Allen charge to him.
- III. Azucena was illegally convicted and sentenced on lewdness and sexual assault counts that were pled "in the alternative".
- IV. The State failed to prove essential elements of counts 1, 3, 10, 15, 19 and 30 beyond a reasonable doubt.
- V. The court abused its discretion by allowing the State to present cumulative hearsay testimony from five witnesses pursuant to NRS 51.385.
- VI. The court abused its discretion by giving a flight instruction.
- VII. Prosecutorial misconduct violated Azucena's constitutional rights.
- VIII. Judicial misconduct violated Azucena's constitutional rights.
- IX. Cumulative error violated Azucena's constitutional rights.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Azucena was indicted 2/2/2017 on 40 felony counts, including: sexual assault with a minor under 14, first degree kidnapping, lewdness with a child under 14, attempt lewdness with a child under 14, child abuse, neglect or endangerment, and indecent exposure. (I:3-14). The charges involved six children who lived in Azucena's apartment complex: J.M., M.M.1, M.M.2,

Y.E., N.E. and S.R. (I:3-14). On 2/14/2017, Azucena pled not guilty and invoked speedy trial. (IV:660-62).

Trial began 4/24/2017 and prosecutors filed an Amended Indictment dismissing Count 9. (III:500-10;VIII:1405).

On 5/10/2017, Azucena was acquitted of nine counts and convicted as follows:

- Lewdness (12 counts);
- Sexual Assault: (one);
- Kidnapping (one);
- Child abuse/neglect/endangerment (seven);
- Attempt lewdness (four);
- Indecent exposure (five).

(XV:2902-06).

On 8/17/2017, the court sentenced Azucena to 85-years-to-life. (III:647). J.O.C. was filed 8/24/2017 and Azucena timely appealed 9/18/17. (III:596-604).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Amanda Moiza lived in the Charleston Gardens Apartments with her husband and daughters, eight-year-old twins M.M.1 and M.M.2, and ten-year-old J.M. (IX:1571-73,1574-75). Maria Barajas also lived in the

complex with her husband and children, eight-year-old Y.E. and two-year-old N.E. (X:1707-08,1715). Moiza and Barajas were friends and their children regularly played together. (X:1707;IX:1594). At the time, Moiza, Barajas and their husbands were all undocumented immigrants. (IX:1633,1681;X:1739,1775).

Ricardo Rangel also lived at the complex. (IX:1672). Rangel knew Moiza because she sometimes watched his seven-year-old daughter, S.R., who lived with him part-time. (IX:1672). Rangel was also an undocumented immigrant who had previously been subjected to removal proceedings. (IX:1681).

There is virtually no way for undocumented immigrants like Moiza, Barajas and Rangel to obtain legal status other than the U-visa program. (XIV:2653-54). The U-visa program creates legal status for victims of certain crimes who help law enforcement investigate and prosecute criminal activity. (XII:2172,2197). Undocumented immigrants cannot apply for a U-visa without a police report stating that they are victims of "qualifying crime[s]" like domestic violence, sexual assault or human trafficking. (XII:2217,2223). Undocumented immigrants must cooperate with police investigations before law enforcement will "certify" their applications for further processing. (XII:2184;XIV:2661). As a victim-based system, the U-

visa program is open to abuse because it provides an incentive to invent crimes. (XIV:2664).

On 10/17/2016, Moiza and Barajas brought their children to the Children's Advocacy Center ("CAC") to file sexual misconduct complaints against their neighbor, Jose David Azucena. (XII:2139-40). At trial, Moiza admitted she knew about the U-visa program before they reported Azucena to police. (IX:1633-34).

Moiza and Barajas cooperated fully with local law enforcement. They brought their children to CAC on 10/20/2016 where they underwent sexual assault examinations, all of which came back "normal". (XIII:2129-32). They returned to CAC on 11/4/2016, where the children (M.M.1, M.M.2, J.M., and Y.E.) were interviewed in Spanish by forensic interviewer Elizabeth Espinosa. (XIII:2294;2479).

In their interviews with Espinosa, the girls generally alleged that on various occasions, in a group setting, Azucena would give them candy, show them pornography on his cell phone, expose himself to them, touch them inappropriately, and kiss them on the mouth, both indoors and outdoors and in the presence of multiple witnesses.(XIII:2296-2387).² Yet, when Espinosa

² The State's "grooming expert," John Paccult, testified grooming is "done in private, it's done in secrecy." (XIII:2255). He admitted that allegations of public sexual acts involving groups of children were highly unusual, and that

interviewed two other children identified as witnesses to the incidents ("Litzi" and "Leo"), they denied seeing anything inappropriate. (XIII:2332-2334,2347-74).

The girls made two other bizarre allegations involving Y.E.:

- (1) Y.E. said Azucena grabbed her from outside his apartment, pushed her into his room, taped her mouth, hands and feet, then, *after* her feet were taped together, removed her pants, fondled her breasts, hit her buttocks, and inserted a finger in her vagina. (XII:2112;XIII:2324). Although Y.E. claimed Litzi saw Azucena pull her into his apartment, Litzi never told Espinosa and Litzi testified at trial that she never saw it. (XIII:2355-57;2387;2460).
- (2) J.M. told Espinosa that Azucena once put chocolate inside Y.E.'s vagina and that Y.E. removed the chocolate while sitting in the back seat of J.M.'s car and M.M.1 asked her how the candy "smelled". (XIII:2366-67). Neither Y.E. nor M.M.1 ever reported that incident, nor was it charged. (I:35-62,71-84;XIII:2367).

After bringing their children to CAC, Moiza and Barajas continued to cooperate with law enforcement. They interviewed with Detective Campbell on 11/8/2016. (XIII:2479-80). They testified before grand jury on 2/1/2017,

in his 20-year career treating over 6,000 sex offenders, he could think of only one other case involving that scenario, (XIII:2248,2255,2288-89).

along with M.M.1, M.M.2, J.M. and Y.E. (I:23-25). After cooperating with law enforcement, Moiza and Barajas applied for U-visas through Hermandad Mexicana Transnational, and their applications were certified by Metro. (XII:2199).

Moiza told Rangel about their complaint against Azucena. (IX:1675). Afterwards, Rangel contacted police, claiming that Azucena touched his daughter's vagina. (XII:2145,2148). However, when Rangel brought S.R. to CAC on 11/22/2017, S.R. told Espinosa Azucena had merely touched her hair, back, cheek and shoulder. (XIII:2310,2319). S.R. also said Azucena exposed himself and offered candy. (XIII:2319-21).

Rangel cooperated with law enforcement, testifying before grand jury and trial. (I:23-25). Rangel admitted Moiza told him about Hermandad Mexicana. (IX:1684). Rangel denied having a pending U-visa application, but admitted he contacted a private lawyer about the U-visa process. (IX:1684).

The children's stories about Azucena evolved over time, from their interviews with Espinosa, to grand jury, to trial. Although Y.E., M.M.1, J.M. and M.M.2 had all originally told Espinosa that Azucena had simply given them candy, this innocuous act became twisted in front of grand jury. Y.E. told grand jury Azucena would make them take the candy out of his

front pocket. (I:50). M.M.1 told grand jury Azucena would put candies in his pants, "in front of his thing," and make them "go find them." (I:80-81). J.M. told grand jury Azucena would put the candies on his "parts", then take them out and give them to the children. (I:103-04). M.M.2 claimed Azucena would put candy "in his thing" and ask if they wanted it. (I:123-24). Y.E. told grand jury Azucena had once picked up her two-year-old sister, N.E., and rubbed N.E.'s "boobs and neck" against his chest. (I:57-59).

The girls' stories about candy changed, once again, at trial. Although Y.E. told grand jury that the candy would be in Azucena's front pocket (I:49-50), at trial Y.E. claimed that the chocolate would be "going around his penis" and that she had to reach into his clothes to get it. (XIII:2090-91). At trial, J.M. claimed that Azucena would take his "part" out of his pants, put the chocolate on his part and give it to them. (X:1878). And in a bizarre twist, Moiza claimed at trial that J.M. told her Azucena would take watermelon and strawberries, "juice it around his penis," and then tell the children to eat it. (IX:1606;1651-52;XIII:2355,2366).

Despite the testimony at trial, Azucena did not commit any of the crimes alleged. The bizarre allegations were fabricated by the children for attention and then co-opted by the parents so Moiza, Barajas and Rangel could obtain legal immigration status at the expense of an innocent man.

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

A new trial is required because Azucena didn't receive the fair trial by an impartial jury guaranteed by state and federal constitutions. Before defense counsel even had an opportunity to question the venire, the judge used foul language to verbally abuse a juror for disclosing honest bias against defense, discouraging remaining venire-members from making similar, honest disclosures. The judge then denied Azucena's request for a new venire. This was structural error.

The judge's erratic behavior throughout trial further prejudiced the defense. The judge repeatedly chastised defense counsel for making legal arguments, inadvertently left his microphone on, allowing the jury to hear three adverse rulings at the bench, required the parties to argue stipulations in front of the jury, and expressed his personal belief to the jury that a State witness was testifying truthfully. (X:1832).

Prosecutorial misconduct also infected the trial during jury selection and closing argument, and the court made several erroneous rulings with respect to evidence and jury instructions.

These trial errors culminated in the issuance of a coercive Allen charge, over Azucena's objection, in response to the jury foreman's request

that the judge "talk to" the lone holdout juror who wanted to vote "not guilty."

Azucena was also illegally convicted and sentenced on lewdness and sexual assault counts that were *pled alternatively to one another*. In addition, he was convicted and sentenced on four counts of child abuse and two counts of lewdness that the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. These errors were not harmless. Whether considered alone or in combination, the errors violated Azucena's right to a fair trial and require reversal.

ARGUMENT

L Azucena's constitutional rights were violated when the judge verbally abused a juror during voir dire and refused to replace the venire.

On day two of voir dire, the judge became extremely angry at a juror who disclosed that she did not believe she could be fair and impartial to Azucena because of her work with child abuse victims. The judge swore at the juror, accused her of lying, and threatened both the juror and the entire jury panel with "repercussions" if anyone else tried to "fabricate" similar excuses to get off the jury:

KOLLINS: Okay. So can you be fair to both sides?

JUROR #177: I think I would be biased. I don't know how --

COURT: So you didn't say that yesterday. All right.

JUROR #177: Well, I said I had other issues.

COURT: No, listen, what — what we're not going to have in this jury is people coming in overnight and thinking up shit and try to make shit up now so they can get out of the jury. That's not going to happen. All right. All right. Because if I find that someone said something yesterday under oath and changes it because they're trying to fabricate something to get out of serving on this jury, there's going to be repercussions. All right.

JUROR #177: I did say –

COURT: Now, what's going on here?

JUROR #177: I did say.

COURT: Tell me what's going on.

JUROR #177: I said I had other issues yesterday. And you said you'd get back to me.

COURT: All right. So — so why you got issues? Why can't you — you're — you're saying that you can't be fair and impartial to both sides. You're going to completely throw out our entire justice system because you don't want to be fair and impartial.

WESTBROOK: Your Honor, may we approach?

COURT: Is that what you're saying?

WESTBROOK: Your Honor?

COURT: No, you can't approach.

You're not going to be fair and impartial?

JUROR #177: Like I said, with my nursing history and I've been involved with child abuse and I've been involved with incest with young girls that deliver, 13-years-old, it makes me rather, you know, biased.

COURT: Ma'am, you're – you're off this jury. You're off this jury.

JUROR #177: Okay.

COURT: You're removed.

JUROR #177: Okay.

COURT: Go home. All right. I don't like your attitude.

(VI:995-96)(emphasis added); Court Exhibit 3, JAVS, 4/25/2017 at 1:39:15-1:40:38

The naked transcript does not reflect the judge's tone of voice or demeanor during the encounter, but the JAVS shows he was exceptionally angry at the juror. He repeatedly cut her off before she could explain herself and even threw a book when he accused her of, "completely throw[ing] out our entire justice system because you don't want to be fair and impartial."

See Court Exhibit 3, JAVS, 4/25/2017 at 1:39:15-1:40:38. The court's conduct was outrageous.

Defense counsel advised the court he didn't believe the remaining jurors would "be comfortable enough in this courtroom to express that they

feel they have a bias or to express anything they think the court will yell at them about." (VI:1049). Citing the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, defense counsel argued: "the way they were yelled at and the language that was used by the court... will have a chilling effect on the remainder of this voir dire" in violation of Azucena's rights to due process, a fair trial and a fair and impartial jury. (VI:1049). Defense counsel moved to dismiss the panel. (VI:1049). See also, Court Exhibit 3, JAVS 4/25/17 at 2:37:09-2:38:22.

The court summarily denied counsel's request as "ludicrous" and made the following record:

THE COURT: Well, the juror that I excused was obviously lying and making stuff up, and so I had to be stern with her. You know, based upon -- I have notes of what she said yesterday, notes what she said today. She completely changed her story, was twisting things to try to get out of jury service. And I'm not going to allow that. And I had to make that known, that I'm not going to allow jurors to lie. All right.

(VI:1050). See also, Court Exhibit 3, JAVS 4/25/17 at 2:38:23-2:38:54.

The judge was not only out-of-line with his reaction, he was also <u>flat</u> wrong: Juror 177 had <u>not</u> "changed her story" at all. (V:868,904-05). On day one of voir dire, when the court asked Juror 177 about her experiences as a "victim of crime", she said she had "other issues" she wanted to discuss. The court told her to <u>wait</u> until the parties questioned her about them.

(V:904-05). Juror 177 did exactly as the court instructed; she waited to discuss her "other issues" until the State questioned her. Apparently, the judge forgot about this.

The judge's attack was erroneous and reprehensible. The judge did not allow Juror 177 to discuss her work-related bias on day one of voir dire, so she couldn't have "changed her story" the next day. Compare (V:904-05) with (VI:1050). The judge attacked this soft-spoken, children's trauma nurse in front of an entire courtroom—shouting obscenities at her, accusing her of lying, and tainting the entire jury venire—all because he couldn't remember his own words the day before.

As set forth herein, the court's hostile outburst was structural error requiring reversal.

A. The court violated Azucena's rights to due process, a fair trial and a fair and impartial jury, and unreasonably restricted voir dire.

"A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process."

In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955). Nevada's Constitution and the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to a fair and impartial jury. See Sanders v. Sears-Page, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 50, 354 P.3d 201, 205 (Nev. App. 2015); McNally v. Walkowski, 85 Nev. 696, 700 (1969) ("The right to trial by jury, if it is to mean anything, must mean the

right to a fair and impartial jury"); Whitlock v. Salmon, 104 Nev. 24, 27 (1988) ("The importance of a truly impartial jury, whether the action is criminal or civil, is so basic to our notion of jurisprudence that its necessity has never really been questioned in this country."); U.S.C.A. VI; Nev. Const. art 1, § 3.

To secure these rights, NRS 175.031 guarantees defendants the right to examine jurors during voir dire:

The court shall conduct the initial examination of prospective jurors, and defendant or the defendant's attorney and the district attorney are entitled to supplement the examination by such further inquiry as the court deems proper. Any supplemental examination must not be unreasonably restricted.

NRS 175.031 (emphasis added); see also NRS 16.030(6) ("The judge shall conduct initial examination of prospective jurors and the parties or their attorneys are entitled to conduct supplemental examinations which must not be unreasonably restricted") (emphasis added).

Although the court has discretion to determine the scope and method of voir dire for the parties, it is reversible error for the court to unreasonably restrict defense counsel's voir dire. Salazar v. State, 107 Nev. 982, 985 (1991).

Here, the judge's verbal assault on Juror 177 (and his refusal to replace the venire thereafter) unreasonably restricted Azucena's ability to ferret out possible bias on the part of prospective jurors. (VI:1049).

First, the judge's behavior violated Code of Judicial Conduct, Rule 2.8 (B), which provides:

A judge shall be patient, dignified, and courteous to litigants, jurors, witnesses, lawyers, court staff, court officials, and others with whom the judge deals in an official capacity and shall require similar conduct of lawyers, court staff, court officials, and others subject to the judge's direction and control.

Nev. Sup. Ct. R. CJC 2.8. If this rule means anything at all, it certainly prohibits judges from threatening and cursing at jurors for honestly disclosing bias during voir dire.

As this Court explained in <u>Parodi v. Washoe Med. Ctr., Inc.</u>, 111 Nev. 365, 367 (1995), "[a] trial judge is charged with providing order and decorum in trial proceedings. What may be innocuous conduct in some circumstances may constitute prejudicial conduct in a trial setting, and we have earlier urged judges to be mindful of the influence they wield." In <u>Parodi</u>, 111 Nev. at 367, this Court found that a trial judge's joking behavior during voir dire "may have adversely influenced the venire's perceptions of the significance of the trial". Based on the mere *possibility* that the judge's behavior had "a prejudicial effect on the jury's view of the

seriousness or importance of the issues", this Court reversed the judgment, remanding for a new trial in front of a different judge. <u>Parodi</u>, 111 Nev. at 369, 371. In the instant case, the judge was certainly not joking.

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