IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSE AZUCENA,

Appellant,

Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Electronically Filed

Sep 20 2018 04:45 p.m.

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 74071

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

Appellant did not object contemporaneously to the first statement; his objection to the second statement was sustained and the testimony was stricken:

MR. WESTBROOK: Objection. Hearsay. Move to strike.

THE COURT: All right. So I'll grant that. The jury will just disregard that the witness was getting ready to talk about something which she wanted to stand up and show you. Disregard all that. All right. Let's just move on.

10 AA 1735.

Regarding the first statement, the district court noted:

But that's not – for the – for [the witness] to testify as to what she did, all right, that doesn't require a 51.385. That would only require a 51.385 if her daughter told her something. The hearsay has to be subject, but her act of putting the cream, which prompted the statement by the minor about he used to touch me there, you know, that's not something that requires a 51.385. Do you see the distinction?

10 AA 1747. Regarding the second statement, the district court found that this testimony "certainly didn't come out as – as any kind of intentional attempt to bring something out beyond the 51.385 hearing" and inquired if counsel wanted any additional statement to be made to the jury regarding disregarding this comment. 10 AA 1743-44.

Appellant contends that the district court allowed the State to continue questioning the witness despite knowing that the statement was beyond the scope of the NRS 51.385 hearing. AOB 50-51. This is incorrect. As is evident from the record, the district court allowed further questioning to determine whether it was beyond the scope. 10 AA 1736. Once it was established that the statement was beyond the scope, the district court immediately struck the statement and instructed the jury to disregard it. 10 AA 1737. Appellant also takes issue with the fact that the district court decided not to question the witness outside the jury's presence, however, excusing the jury would not have made a difference because the jury had already heard the statement. 10 AA 1733.

Appellant also contends that the court erred in not granting a mistrial based on this statement. AOB 51. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has explained that there are degrees of necessity and only a "high" degree justified a mistrial. <u>United States v. Bates</u>, 917 F.2d 388, 389, 1990 U.S. App. LEXIS 18369, *1 (9th Cir. Cal. October 22, 1990). Reviewing courts should respect the setting in which the trial judge finds herself or himself and give substantial deference to the district court. Here, this was an isolated statement that was immediately stricken and the jury was instructed to disregard it. Moreover, given the overwhelming amount of the evidence against Appellant, he cannot argue that a mistrial was warranted.

Finally, Appellant argues that the court erred in giving a curative instruction that allegedly did not address his concerns. AOB 52. "District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). The standard of review for a district court's decision to give a particular instruction is for an abuse of discretion or judicial error. Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 578, 729 P.2d 1341, 1345 (1986). The instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. See also, NRS 178.598; Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 125, 147 P.3d 1101 (2006)). Here, the court gave a curative

instruction after this testimony. 10 AA 1796; 15 AA 2988. Accordingly, this claim is without merit.

For all these reasons, the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting statements under NRS 51.385. Therefore, this claim fails and should be denied.

VI. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR REGARDING A FLIGHT INSTRUCTION

Appellant claims the district court erred in giving a flight instruction because, he argues, there was no evidence to support it. AOB 53. This fails.

"District courts have broad discretion to settle jury instructions." Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). The standard of review for a district court's decision to give a particular instruction is for an abuse of discretion or judicial error. Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 578, 729 P.2d 1341, 1345 (1986). The instructional errors are harmless when it is "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error," and the error is not the type that would undermine certainty in the verdict. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155-56, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000), overruled on other grounds by Rosas v. State, 122 Nev. 125, 147 P.3d 1101 (2006)); see also, NRS 178.598. A district court may refuse to give a jury instruction which is substantially covered by another instruction. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 130 Nev. ____, 321 P.3d 867, 874 (2014); <u>Crawford</u>, 121 Nev. at 754-55, 121 P.3d at 589; Runion v. State, 116 Nev. 1041, 1050, 13 P.3d 52, 58 (2000).

"Flight instructions are valid only if there is evidence sufficient to support a chain of unbroken inferences from the defendant's behavior to the defendant's guilt of the crime charged." <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 116, 17 P.3d 998 (2001); <u>United</u> States v. Feldman, 788 F.2d 544, 555 (9th Cir. 1986).

"A defendant's conduct, such as flight from a scene of the crime, generally is considered a party admission, and will be admitted if the actions have probative value." <u>Turner v. State</u>, 98 Nev. 103, 106, 641 P.2d 1062, 1064 (1982). The giving of a flight instruction is not reversible error if evidence of flight has been admitted. <u>Potter v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 875, 619 P.2d 1222 (1980).

In <u>Miles v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 82, 84-85, 624 P.2d 494, 495-96 (1981), an employee left work with missing money, and this Court held that it was sufficient for a flight instruction to be given. Similarly in <u>Hutchins v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 103, 113, 867 P.2d 1136, 1142-43 (1994), this Court decided that the defendant calling his wife to ask her to take him to their home, when he was not staying there at the time, in the hours after the crime occurred, warranted a flight instruction.

Here, sufficient evidence was presented to support a flight instruction including, but not limited to: on October 16, 2016, the children reported the abuse, the very next day Appellant was reported to the authorities and was never seen in the apartment complex again and where he had lived for 8 years. 9 AA 1625-1628, 1639. Because Appellant disappeared from the apartment complex, the victims'

parents started looking for him, and eventually located him at work on November 12, 2016. 9 AA 1632. They called the police and Appellant was apprehended. Id. Yusnai testified that, after Appellant was reported to the police, he disappeared from the apartment complex. 9 AA 1517. Additionally, Detective Campbell testified that after the victims' parents reported Appellant to the police, the police also were looking for him in the apartment complex and questioned his wife about his whereabouts, but she said that she did not know where he was. 14 AA 2492-93. When Appellant was apprehended, he confirmed that he was not living at home and that he did not tell his wife where he was. Id. Accordingly, like in Miles and Hutchins, there was a sufficient factual basis to give a flight instruction.

In addition, even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that there was any error regarding the flight instruction, any such error was harmless. For nonconstitutional errors, evidentiary or otherwise, an error is harmless unless there was a "substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." <u>Tavares v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 725, 732, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 (2001) (quotation omitted). Given the overwhelming evidence in against Appellant, there was no substantial, injurious effect, or influence giving this flight instruction.

For all these reasons, the district court did not abuse its discretion regarding the flight instruction. As such, Defendant's claim fails and should be denied.

//

VII. NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT OCCURRED

This Court applies a two-step analysis to claims of prosecutorial misconduct. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). This Court first determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper and second, whether the conduct warrants reversal. Id. "A prosecutor's comments should be considered in context, and 'a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001) (quotation omitted). However, prosecutorial misconduct may occur when (1) matters are discussed that are not in evidence, (2) a prosecutor expresses their personal beliefs, or (3) a prosecutor "blatantly attempt[s] to inflame a jury. Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 478-79, 705 P.2d 1126, 1129-31 (1985); Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1191, 196 P.3d 465, 478 (2008). "[T]his Court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error." Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476.

One of two harmless error standards applies to review of prosecutorial misconduct depending on whether the alleged error is of a "constitutional dimension." <u>Id.</u> at 1188-89, 196 P.3d at 476. When the alleged misconduct is of a constitutional nature, this Court applies the <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824 (1967) standard, and will not reverse if "the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict." <u>Chapman.</u>

<u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476. Alternatively, when the alleged error is not constitutional, this Court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." <u>Id.</u> The nature of the alleged misconduct determines whether the error is constitutional or not. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477. "Whether these distinctions make a significant difference in the ultimate analysis of harmlessness may be the subject of some debate," but there are nonetheless two standards. Id.

A defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one, and therefore "a criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 11, 105 S. Ct. 1038, 1044 (1985); <u>accord Leonard v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 53, 81, 17 P.3d 397, 414 (2001). "[W]here evidence of guilt is overwhelming, even aggravated prosecutorial misconduct may constitute harmless error." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 944, 948, 102 P.3d 569, 572 (2004) (citation omitted). In determining prejudice, this Court considers whether a comment had: 1) a prejudicial impact on the verdict when considered in the context of the trial as a whole; or 2) seriously affects the integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings. <u>Rose</u>, 123 Nev. at 208-09, 163 P.3d at 418. It is defendant's burden to show prejudice. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477.

At trial, Appellant only objected to some instances of this alleged prosecutorial misconduct. As such, since these issues were properly preserved, this

Court applies harmless-error review. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. The instances where Appellant did not object, however, are not preserved and thus, this Court applies plain-error review. <u>Id.</u> "Under that standard, an error that is plain from review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.</u> "As a general rule, the failure to move to strike, move for a mistrial, assign misconduct or request an instruction will preclude appellate consideration." <u>Clark v. State</u>, 89 Nev. 392, 393, 513 P.2d 1224, 1224-24 (1973).

1. Voir Dire

The purpose of "jury voir dire is to discover whether a juror 'will consider and decide the facts impartially and conscientiously apply the law as charged by the court." Its scope rests within the sound discretion of the district court, whose decision will be given considerable deference by this court. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1344, 1354-55, 148 P.3d 767, 774 (2006).

"Decisions concerning the scope of voir dire and the manner in which it is conducted are reviewable only for abuse of discretion, and draw considerable deference on appeal." <u>Lamb v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 26, 37, 251 P.3d 700, 707 (2011) (citation and quotation omitted). "The purpose of jury voir dire is to discover whether a juror will consider and decide the facts impartially and conscientiously

apply the law as charged by the court." <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1344, 1354, 148 P.3d 767, 774 (2006) (quotation omitted).

This Court favors a thorough examination of prospective jurors, and where some of the proposed questions were repetitive and even "aimed more at introduction than acquisition of information," this Court found no abuse of discretion. <u>Hogan v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 21, 23, 732 P.2d 422, 423 (1987).

Absent a showing that the district court abused its discretion or that the defendant was prejudiced, the appellate court shall not disturb a district court's determination to conduct a collective voir dire of prospective jurors. Summers v. State, 102 Nev. 195, 196, 718 P.2d 676, 677 (1986).

Appellant claims that the State "indoctrinated" the jury during voir dire by asking hypothetical questions. AOB 58. Specifically, Appellant takes issue with questions to Prospective Juror No. 159 and Prospective Juror No. 230.

As an initial matter, Appellant concedes that he did not object at trial. AOB 59. Therefore, it should not be reviewed on appeal unless it constitutes "plain error." Leonard, 17 P.3d at 415 (2001).

Moreover, the prosecutor's questions were not improper—the record shows that the questions were aimed at potential biases and to ensure that potential jurors understood that it is difficult for a child victim of sexual assault to come forward and, after disclosing the abuse, to come to court and testify. See 5 AA 926-928; 5

AA 961-62. Because child victims in this case were threatened by Appellant and did not report the abuse right away, it was important to make sure that potential jurors would not be biased against the victims just because they did not report Appellant's crimes right away.

Regarding questions to Prospective Juror No. 159 – who had previously disclosed that she was sexually assaulted by her father – the State followed up with questions to ensure that she could be fair and impartial to both sides. See 5 AA 930-32. In support of this claim, Appellant argues that the questions were improper because Prospective Juror No. 159 expressed doubts about being able to serve. 6 AA 983. However, the record shows that the reason why this prospective juror doubted that she could serve was that she was a victim of sexual assault as a child, which is understandable, stating: "[b]ut with my past history, it's very difficult for me to do that." 6 AA 983.

Regarding Prospective Juror No. 230, the State asked questions regarding this prospective juror's work experiences as a nurse and mandatory abuse reporter to determine if there were potential biases. 5 AA 944-45, 950. This line of questioning is proper and in accord with the main purpose of the voir dire. <u>Johnson</u>, 122 Nev. at 1354, 148 P.3d at 774.

In support of the argument that the State "swayed" the panel with these questions, Appellant states that some prospective jurors said it would be difficult for

them to hear about allegations of sexual assault of children. AOB 61. However, that is hardly an unusual reaction to cases of this nature. Hence, Appellant's argument that the jury panel was "swayed" fails. Because it is the main purpose of the voir dire to elicit potential biases, the questions to the jury were not inappropriate.

Further, plain-error review applies and the record shows that, even if assuming <u>arguendo</u> that these questions were not appropriate, defendant failed to demonstrate that they affected his substantial rights or cause prejudice. Because the evidence of guilt in the instant case is overwhelming, even assuming <u>arguendo</u> that some of the questions were inappropriate, it was harmless. <u>Smith</u>, 120 Nev. at 948, 102 P.3d at 572. Thus, Appellant is not entitled to relief.

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